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District of Columbia 

Office of the State Superintendent of Education 

Office of Dispute Resolution 

810 First Street, NE, 2nd Floor, Washington, DC  20002 

(202) 698-3819   www.osse.dc.gov 

 

__________________________________________________________________     

Parent, on behalf of Student,1  ) Room: 2006  

Petitioner,     ) Hearings: 10/28, 11/3 (2016) 

      )  HOD Due: November 8, 2016  

 v.     ) Hearing Officer: Michael Lazan  

      )  Case No.: 2016-0205 

District of Columbia Public Schools,  ) Issue Date: November 8, 2016  

      )  
Respondent.     )                                                    

 

HEARING OFFICER DETERMINATION 

 
I.  Introduction 

 

 This is a case involving a student who is currently eligible for services as a 

student with Multiple Disabilities.  (the “Student”)     

           A Due Process Complaint (“Complaint”) was received by District of Columbia 

Public Schools (“DCPS” or “Respondent”) pursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities 

Education Act (“IDEA”) on August 25, 2016.  On September 2, 2016, Respondent filed a 

response.   A resolution meeting was held on September 8, 2016.  The resolution period 

expired on September 24, 2016.            

II.  Subject Matter Jurisdiction 

 This due process hearing was held, and a decision in this matter is being rendered, 

pursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities Improvement Act (“IDEIA”), 20 U.S.C. 

Sect. 1400 et seq., its implementing regulations, 34 C.F.R. Sect. 300 et seq., Title 38 of 

                                                 
1
Personally identifiable information is attached as Appendix A and must be removed prior to public 

distribution. 
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the D.C. Code, Subtitle VII, Chapter 25, and the District of Columbia Municipal 

Regulations, Title 5-E, Chapter 30. 

III. Procedural History 

  

 On September 15, 2016, this Hearing Officer held a prehearing conference. 

Attorney A, Esq., counsel for Petitioner, appeared.   Attorney B, Esq., counsel for 

Respondent, appeared.    A prehearing conference order issued on September 20, 2016, 

summarizing the rules to be applied in this hearing and identifying the issues in the case.    

 There were two hearing dates in this case, October 28, 2016, and November 3, 

2016.   This was a closed proceeding.   Petitioner was represented by Attorney A, Esq.  

Respondent was represented by Attorney B, Esq.   Petitioner moved in Exhibits 1-30. 

There were no objections.  Exhibits 1-30 were admitted.   Respondent moved in Exhibits 

1-22.  There were no objections.  Exhibits 1-22 were admitted.  Both sides submitted 

written statements which were received on November 4, 2016.   

 Petitioner presented as witnesses:  Petitioner; Witness A. a psychologist (expert: 

child psychology); Witness B. a clinician with a mental health agency; Witness C, a 

service provider; Witness D, a principal (expert: special education programming for 

students with disabilities), and Witness H, an attorney.   Respondent presented: Witness 

E, a psychologist (expert: school psychology); Witness F, a social worker (expert: social 

work for children, counseling services); Witness G, a special education teacher.            

               IV. Credibility. 

 In the main, witnesses were credible and reasonably consistent with each other on 

all issues of material fact.   I must note that Witness F and Witness G both relied on the 

statements of two teachers at IEP meetings to the effect that the Student was doing 
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reasonably well at School B.  They also relied on the Student’s report cards, which 

showed passing grades.  However, it was obvious from the record that the Student did not 

attend enough -- or stay in class enough -- to have meaningfully benefitted from School 

B.   It is notable that neither teacher was called as a witness in the case.   In fact, none of 

the Student’s teachers were called as witnesses. 

V. Issues 

 As identified in the Prehearing Conference Summary and Order and in the Due 

Process Complaint, the issues to be determined are as follows: 

 1.  Did the IEPs dated June, 2015, March, 2016, and June 2016 fail to provide 

the Student with a placement, fail to provide sufficient specialized instruction outside 

general education, inappropriately classify the student, provide for an inadequate amount 

of behavioral support services, fail to provide behavioral support services with a 

psychologist or a licensed therapist, fail to provide the student with affirmative 

interventions for truancy, and fail to provide an appropriate behavioral intervention plan?  

If so, did DCPS violate 34 CFR Sect. 300.320, 34 CFR Sect. 300.17, 34 CFR Sect. 

300.324, and act in contravention of some of the principles in such cases as Hendrick 

Hudson Bd. Of Educ. v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 176 (1982)?  If so, did DCPS deny the Student 

a FAPE?    

 2. Did DCPS provide the Student with inappropriate Functional Behavior 

Assessments for the school years 2014-2015 and 2015-2016?   If so, did DCPS fail to 

assess the Student in all areas of suspected disability for the two school years?  If so, did 

DCPS violate 28 U.S.C. Sect.1414(b)(3), 34 C.F.R. Sect.300.304(c), and related 

provisions? If so, did DCPS deny the Student a FAPE? 
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    3. Did DCPS assign the Student to an inappropriate educational placement 

for the 2015-2016 school year?  If so, did DCPS act in contravention of some of the 

principles in such cases as Gellert v. District of Columbia, 435 F. Supp.2d 18 (D.D.C. 

2006)? If so, did Respondent deny the Student a FAPE? 

 Petitioner contends that the atmosphere is inappropriate at the school and that the 

Student needs a therapeutic, small environment with a licensed psychologist on staff, and 

crisis paraprofessionals. 

 As relief, Petitioner is seeking placement at School C, an IEP meeting within 15 

days of the HOD, and compensatory education per the testimony of Witness C.  

VI. Findings of Fact. 

 1. The Student is an X-year old who is currently eligible for services as a 

student with Multiple Disabilities.  The Student has had a long history of fighting in 

school, non-compliance, poor academic performance, talking back, disruptiveness, 

defiance, angry outbursts, sexually inappropriate comments, and walking out of class.  

The Student has been diagnosed with Major Depressive Disorder with psychotic features, 

Bipolar Disorder, and does not present developmentally as a child of the Student’s age.  

(Testimony of Witness A; Testimony of Witness B; P-1-4-5) 

   2. The Student has attended numerous schools, including several public 

charter schools, during the Student’s academic career before going to School A for the 

2013-2014 school year.  The Student did poorly at School A, a public  school, where 

the Student had significant behavioral problems and received either D or F in every 

academic class.  Accordingly, a Functional Behavior Assessment (“FBA”) was written 

for the Student in or about March 21, 2014. The assessment pointed to the Student’s lack 
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of motivation, inattentiveness, poor attendance and academic disengagement.  It found 

that the Student was an unauthorized presence in the halls, fought a lot and caused 

disruption to property.   It found that the behavior was triggered by, among other things, 

conflict, demanding work, failing grades, and directions.  The FBA reported that there 

had been “minimal success” with such interventions as bonus points, stamps, behavior 

tracker sheets, verbal incentives, one to one assistance without the classroom, 

competitions, candy, and “positive shout-outs.”  (Testimony of Petitioner; P-1-1; P-19-2)  

 3. Part of the problem was that the Student had little self-awareness.  The 

Student felt that there were no behavior problems at school and felt angry when teachers 

asked such requests.  For instance, the Student would walk into class with a jacket, the 

teacher would ask the Student to take the jacket off, and the Student would simply refuse 

and walk the halls instead of going into the class.  (P-1-5)  

 4. For the 2014-2015 school year, the Student continued at School A, again 

in the same grade.   Because the behavior problems continued, a Behavior Intervention 

Plan (“BIP”) was written for the Student in March, 2015.   This plan required scheduled 

breaks, verbal encouragement, and required a calm, structured and peaceful environment 

with minimal distractions.  Nevertheless, the Student continued to avoid class, and to 

avoid work when in class, making no academic progress during the school year.  This led 

to the Student coming to the attention of the District of Columbia court system by April, 

2015 because of truancy.  (P-2-1; P-3-2; P-19-2-3)  

 5. Testing was conducted of the Student in May, 2015.  This testing showed 

that the Student was at the 5.8 grade level equivalent in reading comprehension, with a 

3.8 grade level equivalent in calculation and a 4.6 grade level equivalent in writing 
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fluency.   Two of the scores, for spelling (9.0 grade level equivalent), and letter word 

identification (8.5 grade level equivalent), were much closer to grade level.  (P-3-2-3)  

 6. An IEP meeting was held for the Student in June, 2015.  The resultant IEP 

deemed the Student eligible as a student with Multiple Disabilities (emotional 

disturbance, other health impairment) and provided goals in math, reading, writing, and 

emotional and social development.  Ten hours per week of specialized instruction were to 

be provided outside general education, with sixty minutes per month of behavioral 

support services.  The transition plan in the IEP required researching job training schools, 

with the goal being work as an electrician.  (P-5)  

 7. The Student was assigned to another school, School B, for the 2015-2016 

school year.  However, the Student did not attend for September, October, November and 

December, 2015.   The parent was trying to get the Student into a charter school or a 

residential school at this time.   The Student was also hospitalized due to suicidal 

ideation.    (Testimony of Petitioner; Testimony of Witness G; P-19-2)  

 8. A psychiatric evaluation by the District of Columbia Department of 

Behavioral Health in December, 2015 was occasioned because of the Student’s legal 

problems relating to truancy.   The evaluator found that School B was the Student’s 

seventh school, and that the Student was expelled from a charter school in seventh grade.  

The Student was found to have a full scale IQ of 70, with testing in the 5.8 grade level in 

reading comprehension, 3.2 in math calculation, and 4.3 in written expression.   Word 

attack scores were above average, and reading recall was in the average range, at the 44th 

percentile.   The Student was diagnosed with Unspecified Bipolar and Related Disorder, 

Cannabis Use Disorder, and Specific Learning Disorder diagnoses in reading, math and 



7 

 

writing.   The main recommendation of this report was therapy, substance abuse 

treatment, and leadership programs.  The plan indicated that the Student had stopped 

going to school in part because work was too difficult and in part because the Student 

was embarrassed about being older than the others in the class.  (P-9)  

 9. After interventions through the court system, the Student was placed in a 

group home where the staff were responsible for the Student coming to school.  The 

Student finally reported for school in January 2016.  Even though the classes consisted of 

general education students, the classes were small, with ten or fewer students, and the 

other students were all below grade level.  The Student was not provided a math class.  

When the Student could stay in class and concentrate, the Student would be able to do the 

work.  (Testimony of Witness G) 

 10. Another IEP meeting was conducted in February, 2016.   The team 

discussed classification, and the team did not feel that a Specific Learning Disability 

classification was appropriate because the emotional issues affected the Student the most.  

The Student’s history and environmental science teachers indicated that the Student was 

doing well when paying attention in class.     However, the Student would often miss 

class and would leave in the middle of instruction.  The Student was often seen 

wandering the halls alone, and seldom interacted with peers.   Sometimes he would ask 

for a pass, but something he would not.   School staff would sometimes not know where 

the Student was.  The Student had earned only three Carnegie Units needed for 

graduation (out of thirty-four), and had not completed any of the required 100 hours of 

community service that were needed to graduate.  (Testimony of Witness C; Testimony 

of Witness G; Testimony of Witness F; R-12-3; P-14-7) 
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 11. The IEP dated March 6, 2016 had the same goals areas as the prior IEP.   

Specialized instruction hours were kept the same, except that two hours per week of 

specialized instruction inside general education were added.   The total hours were ten 

hours of special education services outside general education and two hours inside 

general education.  An additional sixty minutes of behavioral support services were 

added, making the recommendation 120 minutes per month.   Academic interventions 

were recommended including location with minimal distractions, rephrasing of questions, 

additional time to move within classes, special seating, testing modifications, and 

curricular aids.  (P-14-9)       

 12. After the IEP meeting, the Student was assigned a math class.  However, 

this was an “Algebra 2” class which required taking “Algebra 1” first.   The Student 

accordingly could not do the work.    The school and the parent discussed the option of 

the Student taking “Algebra 1” in summer school or as credit recovery, and a special 

education teacher was assigned to the class to help the Student.   (Testimony of 

Petitioner; Testimony of Witness G) 

 13. An observation of the Student’s reading class was conducted of the 

Student on April 25, 2016, by Witness A.   However, the Student would not enter the 

class at the start of the observation.   School staff coaxed the Student into the classroom, 

but then the Student left the classroom in the middle of instruction.  The Student then 

returned, but refused to participate in the lesson.   The Student ended up engaged in a 

computer program for the remainder of the lesson.  The Student was then scheduled to go 

to gym, which is where Witness A went thereafter.  However, the Student did not show 

up at the gym class.   (Testimony of Witness A; P-19-4) 
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 14. Another FBA was written for the Student on April 2, 2016.  This FBA 

indicated that the Student has not been able to remain in the classroom, and missed 

approximately “40 to 60” minutes of instructional time per class.   It indicated that a 

“lecture style” model bores the Student, and that redirection from staff has been 

ineffective.  The next month, a BIP was written.  The plan dated May 2, 2016 requires 

scheduled breaks, and the use of hall passes.  In addition, more hands-on materials were 

to be provided, and a student contract was to be required.  Both the FBA and the BIP 

were drafted without consideration of the previous FBA and BIP at School A.  (P-16, P-

18; Testimony of Witness F)  

 15. The Student rarely went to school thereafter, in part because the Student 

was no longer at the group home.  When the Student was there, the Student would leave 

the classroom without authorization.  There were no structured breaks for the Student.     

Instead, the Student would be allowed to leave the classroom without notice, to be 

returned when someone found the Student in the hallways.  The Student was supposed to 

ask for a pass whenever he took a break, but did not always do so.  (Testimony of 

Witness F; Testimony of Witness G; Testimony of Petitioner)  

 16.  In every month of the 2015-2016 school year, the Student missed at least 

nine days of school.   The Student did not attend until January, 2016.   In January, the 

Student missed twelve days of school.    In February, the Student missed twelve days of 

school.  In March, the Student missed nine days of school.  In April and May, the Student 

missed seventeen days of school (each month).  Nevertheless, the Student received 

passing grades, and even received a B in US History and Geography during the third 

term.  Even during the fourth term, when the Student barely attended, the Student 
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received passing grades in Algebra II, Environmental Science, Reading Workshop, 

Projects and Problem Solving, and again US History and Geography.  (P-22; P-23-2) 

 17. The Student is assigned to School B again for the 2016-2017 school year.   

The school is now housed in a bright new facility, and there are more individuals 

patrolling the hallways than there were in the previous location.   Nevertheless, the 

Student has not attended school for the 2016-2017 school year except for a few times.   

(Testimony of Petitioner; Testimony of Witness G)  

 18. An IEP meeting was held for the Student in September, 2016.   The 

Student’s environmental science teacher said that, during the prior school year, the 

Student would ask for a pass sixty percent of the time and not return.  In this IEP, 

specialized instruction hours were increased to ten hours inside general education (an 

increase of eight hours inside general education), and ten hours outside general education, 

with an addition of another sixty minutes of behavioral support services per month, 

totaling 180 minutes a month.   (R-18)  

 19. Currently, the Student refuses to go to School B.  The Student feels too old 

for classmates, and has overheard teachers making adverse comments about the Student’s 

intelligence. The Student is embarrassed to go to the school because, earlier, the Student 

went to school wearing an ankle bracelet.  The Student also has difficulty with the school 

because it can be noisy in the hallways.   In this school of about 650 students, children 

often walk the hallways without authorization.  There are often no consequences for 

leaving the classroom without permission.  When students do this, they will then be 

escorted back to the classroom via a “climate for learning” team of 10-15 staff members.    

(Testimony of Witness G; Testimony of Petitioner) 
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VII. Conclusions of Law 

 Based upon the above Findings of Fact, the arguments of counsel, as well as this 

Hearing Officer’s own legal research, the Conclusions of Law of this Hearing Officer are 

as follows: 

  DCPS has the burden of persuasion on the appropriateness of the existing or 

proposed IEP program or placement, though Petitioner must establish a prima facie case 

before the burden of persuasion falls on DCPS. The burden of persuasion shall be met by 

a preponderance of the evidence.  D.C. Code Sect. 38-2571.03 

 In matters alleging a procedural violation, a hearing officer may find that a child 

did not receive a FAPE only if the procedural inadequacies: (i) Impeded the child's right 

to a FAPE; (ii) Significantly impeded the parent's opportunity to participate in the 

decision-making process regarding the provision of a FAPE to the parent's child; or (iii) 

Caused a deprivation of educational benefit.   34 CFR Sect. 300.513(a). 

 1.    Did the IEPs dated June, 2015, March, 2016, and June 2016 fail to 

provide the Student with a placement, fail to provide sufficient specialized 

instruction outside general education, inappropriately classify the student, provide 

for an inadequate amount of behavioral support services, fail to provide behavioral 

support services with a psychologist or a licensed therapist, fail to provide the 

student with affirmative interventions for truancy, and fail to provide an 

appropriate behavioral intervention plan?  If so, did DCPS violate 34 CFR Sect. 

300.320, 34 CFR Sect. 300.17, 34 CFR Sect. 300.324, and act in contravention of 

some of the principles in such cases as Hendrick Hudson Bd. Of Educ. v. Rowley, 

458 U.S. 176 (1982)?  If so, did DCPS deny the Student a FAPE?    

 

 The role of the hearing officer is to determine if the individualized educational 

program developed through the Act's procedures is reasonably calculated to enable the 

child to receive additional benefits.   Hendrick Hudson Bd. Of Educ. v. Rowley, 458 U.S. 

176 (1982) The IEP should be both comprehensive and specific and targeted to the 

Student’s “unique needs.”  McKenzie v. Smith, 771 F.2d 1527, 1533, D.C. Cir. 1985); 
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N.S. ex rel. Stein v. District of Columbia, 709 F.Supp.2d 57, 60 (D.D.C. 2010); 34 CFR 

Sect. 300.320(a)(2)(B) (the IEP must contains goals that meet each of the child's 

educational needs that result from the child's disability); 34 CFR Sect. 

300.324(a)(1)(iv)(the IEP must address the academic, developmental, and functional 

needs of the child).  

 In S.S. ex rel. Shank v. Howard Road Academy, 585 F. Supp.2d 56, 66-67 

(D.D.C. 2008), the Court found that the measure and adequacy of an IEP decision must 

be determined as of the time it was offered to the student.   Citing to Circuit court 

decisions, the Court found that an IEP should be judged prospectively to avoid “Monday 

morning quarterbacking.”   See Thompson R2-J Sch. Dist. v. Luke P., 540 F.3d 1143, 

1149 (10th Cir. 2008); Adams v. Oregon, 195 F.3d 1141, 1149 (9th Cir. 1999); Carlisle 

Area Sch. V. Scott P., 62 F.3d 520, 530 (3d Cir. 1995); Roland M. v. Concord Sch. 

Comm., 910 F.2d 983, 992 (1st Cir. 1990).     

 1. June, 2015 IEP.  

 Prior to the formation of this IEP, the Student did poorly at School A.   The 

Student avoided class, making no academic progress during the school year.  This led to 

the Student coming to the attention of the District of Columbia court system by April, 

2015 because of truancy.  This IEP then designated the Student eligible as a student with 

Multiple Disabilities (emotional disturbance, other health impairment) and provided goals 

in math, reading, writing, and emotional and social development.  Ten hours per week of 

specialized instruction were to be provided outside general education, with sixty minutes 

per month of behavioral support services.  The transition plan in the IEP required 

researching job training schools, with the goal being work as an electrician.   
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 To determine what is a reasonable program in this context, it is necessary to 

determine what had been tried by the school district earlier.   Petitioner did not make 

clear what the Student’s program was during the 2014-2015 school year.  In fact, the IEP 

for the 2014-2015 school year was not entered into evidence for my consideration.  It is 

therefore unclear whether the provisions in the June, 2015 IEP represent an increase in 

services from the previous year, or whether the goals have been altered from the previous 

year, or whether the present levels of performance have been appropriately updated from 

the previous year.   As a result, I find that Petitioner has not established a prima facie 

case with respect to this IEP. 

 I note that a BIP was written during this school year, in March, 2015.   This plan 

required scheduled breaks, verbal encouragement, and required a calm, structured and 

peaceful environment with minimal distractions.   There is nothing in the record to 

suggest that this particular plan was unreasonable at the time it was created.  On its face, 

it appears to be a reasonable, well written plan.  Petitioner’s contentions regarding the 

BIP from March, 2015 must be dismissed.     

 2. March, 2016 IEP. 

 This IEP, dated March 6, 2016 had the same goals areas as the prior IEP.   

Specialized instruction hours were kept the same, except that two hours per week of 

specialized instruction inside general education were added.   The total hours were ten 

hours of special education services outside general education and two hours inside 

general education.  An additional sixty minutes of behavioral support services were 

added, making the recommendation 120 minutes per month.   Academic interventions 
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included location with minimal distractions, rephrasing of questions, additional time to 

move within classes, special seating, testing modifications, and curricular aids.           

 Petitioner challenges the amount of special education hours, but there is 

persuasive evidence that the Student’s special education hours were appropriate at the 

time of the creation of the document.  It is true that the Student was placed in a general 

with this IEP, and it is also true that the Student was functioning well below grade level.  

However, in School B, many students are below grade level.   In fact, most if not all the 

other students in the Student’s classes were roughly at the Student’s same academic level.   

In fact, Witness G testified that, when the Student was in the class, the Student would do 

well.   The problem was that the Student was often not in class, and when the Student 

was, the Student would simply leave.      

 Petitioner contended that the IEP did not address this problem, and Petitioner is 

correct.    DCPS argued that the additional sixty minutes of additional behavioral support 

services was a sufficient intervention, but there is nothing in the record to suggest that 

these additional counseling services would have any impact on the Student’s unfortunate 

attendance issues.2  In fact, the record suggests that counseling was an unsuccessful 

intervention for the Student since the gradual increases in counseling since 2015 had no 

impact on the Student’s performance.   

 Respondent has an “affirmative duty” to address a Student’s truancy where the 

truancy is linked to student disability.  Lexington County Sch. Dist. One v. Frazier, 57 

IDELR 190 (D.S.C. 2011)(SRO's ruling that District failed to assess Student's truancy 

                                                 
2 There is nothing in the record to suggest that the Student needed to have therapy with a 

psychologist or a licensed social worker.   In fact, the report of Witness A does not 

mention this (P-19), nor does the court ordered psychiatric and psychological reports (P-

9, P-10)    
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issue upheld by District Court); Springfield School Committee v. Doe, 623 F.Supp.2d 

150 (D. Mass 2009)(“behavior management services” fall within the scope of  IDEA); cf.  

R.B. v. Mastery Charter School, 762 F. Supp.2d 745 (E.D. Pa 2010)(District had duty to 

respond to absences through educational intervention); Independent Sch. Dist. No. 284, 

Wayzata Area Sch. v. A.C., 258 F.2d 769 (8th Cir. 2001)(neuropsychological assessment 

conducted of truant student; assessment was relied upon by the court to determine 

appropriate educational program for Student).   

 Petitioner’s claims are stronger because there is support in the record that the 

Student’s disability caused the Student to have difficulty attending class.  This was the 

testimony of Witness A, an expert in child psychology, who came across as credible 

during the hearing.  Even more persuasive, the IEP itself discusses that the Student had 

difficulty with leaving class and with attendance, in effect linking the Student’s disability 

to the classroom and attendance issues.   The IEP says, in the “Area of Concern: 

Emotional, Social, and Behavioral Development” section, that the Student was “often 

seen wandering the halls alone and seldom interacting with peers.”   It also states that the 

Student “attended 30 out of 161 days of school” and had obtained only 3 of 24 credits 

needed for graduation.    

 Parenthetically, courts recognize that some children simply do not want to go to 

school.   Garcia v. Albuquerque Public Schools, 520 F.3d 1116, 1127 (10th Cir. 

2008)(Student’s pattern of misbehavior would have prevented her from getting an 

educational benefit no matter what the District did).    However, no witnesses testified 

that this Student simply did not want to go to school.   While the Student’s issues were 

and are certainly severe, it was still incumbent on the school district to try something new 
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to try to get this Student to go to or stay in class so that the Student would have a 

reasonable chance at getting a free and appropriate education.3   Since DCPS did not 

genuinely address the Student’s behavioral issues, DCPS denied the Student educational 

benefit, and therefore a FAPE.       

 3. June, 2016 IEP. 

 There is no such IEP in the record, and there is no clear testimony referencing any 

such IEP.   There is, however, a BIP that was written in May, 2016 that was apparently in 

effect at the time of the June, 2016.          

 A Behavior Intervention Plan is not required under the IDEA.  The IDEA requires 

that the IEP team shall consider the use of positive behavioral supports and other 

strategies to address that behavior in conformance with the IDEA and its implementing 

regulations. 20 U.S.C. Sect. 1414(d)(3)(B)(i); 34 C.F.R. Sect. 300.324(a)(2)(i).  

According to 5-E DCMR Sect. 3007.3, if a student’s behavior impedes the child's 

learning or the learning of others, the IEP team shall consider strategies, including 

positive behavioral intervention, strategies, and supports, to address that behavior.    

 Still, District of Columbia precedent establishes that school districts must address 

a Student’s emotional and behavioral issues if they adversely affect a Student’s 

educational performance.  Long v. Dist. of Columbia, 780 F. Supp.2d 49 (D.D.C. 

                                                 
3 Parenthetically, I am not convinced that the Student’s eligibility category was wrong.   Petitioner is not 

contending that the Student was improperly classified as having Multiple Disabilities.   Instead, Petitioner 

contends that – in the parenthetical used by the school district -- the Student should have also been flagged 

as a Student with a Specific Learning Disability (in addition to being considered a student with emotional 

disturbance and other health impairment).  There is nothing in the IDEA that requires a school district to 

include this parenthetical in the IEP.    The definition in the IDEA reads only as follows:   Multiple 

disabilities means concomitant impairments (such as mental retardation-blindness or mental retardation-

orthopedic impairment), the combination of which causes such severe educational needs that they cannot be 

accommodated in special education programs solely for one of the impairments.  34 C.F.R. Sect. 300.8(7).   

While I agree that the evidence indicates that the Student has a learning disability as well, it is not 

incumbent on the school district to change the classification given the regulatory language.      
 



17 

 

2008)(in ruling the District failed to provide an BIP for a Student, court stated that “the 

quality of a student’s education is inextricably linked to the student’s behavior”); Shelton 

v. Maya Angelou Charter School, 578 F.Supp.2d 83 (D.D.C. 2008)(BIP required where 

learning disabled student was suspended).   

 The BIP dated May 2, 2016 added to the March, 2016 IEP currently in effect and 

required scheduled breaks, and the use of hall passes.  In addition, more hands-on 

materials were to be provided, and a student contract was to be required.  However, the 

addition of this BIP did not turn the March IEP into an appropriate one.   It was not 

reasonable to calculate that the Student’s behaviors would be addressed with this new 

plan.     In fact, the new plan was really an old plan, though Witness F did not know it at 

the time.   The crux of both plans was that the Student should receive “structured breaks” 

to deal with his tendency to leave class.    This approach did not work at School A, which 

ended up asking the Student to leave the school.   Moreover, as implemented at School B, 

the “scheduled breaks” were in fact not really “scheduled.”  No specific time was set for 

each break, and there was no time limit for the breaks.   Instead, the Student simply 

would leave class -- unsupervised – pretty much whenever the Student wanted.   

Sometimes the Student would ask for a pass, sometimes the Student would not.    

 As a result of the foregoing, I find that Respondent denied the Student educational 

benefit, and therefore a FAPE from March 9, 2016 through to the end of the 2015-2016 

school year.     

 2. Did DCPS provide the Student with inappropriate Functional 

Behavior Assessments for the school years 2014-2015 and 2015-2016?   If so, did 

DCPS fail to assess the Student in all areas of suspected disability for the two school 

years?  If so, did DCPS violate 28 U.S.C. Sect.1414(b)(3), 34 C.F.R. Sect.300.304(c), 

and related provisions? If so, did DCPS deny the Student a FAPE? 
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 An LEA is required to use a variety of assessment tools and strategies to gather 

relevant functional, developmental, and academic information, including information 

provided by the parent, that may assist in determining (i) whether the child is a child with 

a disability; and (ii) the content of the child's individualized education program, including 

information related to enabling the child to be involved in and progress in the general 

education curriculum, or, for preschool children, to participate in appropriate activities.   

The LEA should not use any single measure or assessment as the sole criterion for 

determining whether a child is a child with a disability or determining an appropriate 

educational program for the child, and use technically sound instruments that may assess 

the relative contribution of cognitive and behavioral factors, in addition to physical or 

developmental factors.  28 U.S.C. Sect. 1414(b)(2); 34 C.F.R. Sect. 300.304(b).  

 The LEA must also ensure that the assessment and evaluation materials that are 

utilized to assess the child are selected and administered so as not to be discriminatory 

on a racial or cultural basis; are provided and administered in the language and form  

most likely to yield accurate information on what the child knows and can do 

academically, developmentally, and functionally, unless it is not feasible to so provide  

or administer; are used for purposes for which the assessments or measures are valid  

and reliable; are administered by trained and knowledgeable personnel; and  

are administered in accordance with any instructions provided by the producer of such 

assessments.  The LEA is further required to ensure that the child is assessed in all areas 

of suspected disability and that the chosen assessment tools and strategies that provide  

relevant information that directly assists persons in determining the educational 

needs of the child are provided.   28 U.S.C. Sect.1414(b)(3); 34 C.F.R. Sect.300.304(c). 
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 As Respondent pointed out, there is recent authority within the circuit that an 

FBA is not required to assess the Student’s behavior.   E.L. Haynes Pub. Charter Sch. v. 

Frost, 66 IDELR 287 (D.D.C 2015) (LEA is not obligated to conduct a functional 

behavior assessment in order to assess a child in all areas of suspected disability).  

 Moreover, the record contains a well written FBA dated March 21, 2014 that was 

reasonably contemporaneous with the two school years in question.  This assessment 

pointed to the Student’s lack of motivation, inattentiveness, poor attendance and 

academic disengagement, found that the Student was an unauthorized presence in the 

halls, and fought a lot.  It found that the behavior was triggered by, among other things, 

conflict, demanding work, failing grades, and directions.  The FBA reported that there 

had been “minimal success” with such interventions as bonus points, stamps, behavior 

tracker sheets, verbal incentives, one to one assistance without the classroom, 

competitions, candy, and “positive shout-outs.”   

 Petitioner does not explain why this FBA was insufficient, and indeed, the record 

reflects that both FBAs in the record were quite well written and thorough.   This claim 

must be denied.    

 3. Did DCPS assign the Student to an inappropriate educational 

placement for the 2015-2016 school year?  If so, did DCPS act in contravention of 

some of the principles in such cases as Gellert v. District of Columbia, 435 F. 

Supp.2d 18 (D.D.C. 2006)? If so, did Respondent deny the Student a FAPE? 

 

 Most cases involving FAPE denial focus on the IEP, the “centerpiece” of the Act.   

Honig v. Doe, 484 U.S. 305, 311 (1988).   Nevertheless, Petitioners may bring claims 

based upon an inappropriate placement4 in certain situations.   Although the LEA has 

                                                 
4 As pointed out in Eley v. District of Columbia, 47 F. Supp. 3d 131 (D.D.C. 2014), the Student’s 

educational placement includes the school, or location of services. 
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some discretion with respect to school selection,5 that discretion cannot be exercised in 

such a manner to deprive a Student of a FAPE.  Gellert v. District of Columbia, 435 F. 

Supp.2d 18 (D.D.C. 2006); Holmes v. District of Columbia, 680 F. Supp. 40 (D.D.C. 

1988).    Courts can accordingly rule that school assignments violate the IDEA if, for 

instance, the school contains an environment that allows bullying.   Shore Regional High 

School Board of Education v. P.S., 381 F.3d 194 (3d Cir. 2004)(denial of FAPE based on 

the likelihood that a proposed placement would subject a student with an emotional 

disability to continued bullying because of his perceived effeminacy); M.L. v. Federal 

Way School District, 394 F.3d 634 (9th Cir. 2005)(if a teacher is deliberately indifferent 

to the teasing of child with a disability and the abuse is so severe that the child can derive 

no benefit from the services that he or she is offered by the school district, the child has 

been denied FAPE).  

 The record supports Petitioner on this claim.   First, the record shows that the 

School B is an environment where some students travel the hallways.  If a student 

chooses to leave a class, they will simply be redirected back to class without any 

consequences.     This is too lax an environment for this Student, who has great difficulty 

staying in class as it is and hardly needs this sort of inappropriate role modeling.  

Moreover, the Student has expressed that avoiding school was because of his classrooms 

at School B, which contained mainly children who are much younger.   This is a Student 

who needs to be in a class with same age peers so the Student will be more apt to attend.         

 Finally, the Student is inappropriately placed because the school does not offer an 

appropriate math class.   The school placed the Student in an “Algebra 2” class even 

                                                 
5 See Jalloh v. District of Columbia, 968 F.Supp.2d 203 (despite complaints about, among other things. the 

school’s use of computers for instruction, school deemed able to implement the IEP and placement claims 

denied).    
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though the Student had not taken “Algebra 1.”  The report cards did indicate passing 

grades in math, but it is hard to understand how that could be since the Student rarely 

attended.   DCPS did not call the algebra teacher, or any teacher of the Student, to meet 

its burden and explain how it was that this Student could have taken Algebra 2 and 

passed without taking Algebra 1 and without attending much.            

  As a result of the foregoing, I agree that Respondent denied the Student a FAPE 

when offering School B for the 2015-2016 school year.     

VIII.  Relief. 

 As relief, Petitioner seeks: 1) placement at School C; 2) a reconvened IEP 

meeting and a revised IEP; 3) compensatory education in the form of credit recovery 

services. 

 In Branham v. District of Columbia, 427 F.3d 7 (D.C. Cir. 2005), the Circuit laid 

forth rules for determining when it is appropriate for IHOs to order funding of non-public 

placements.  First, the court indicated that “(i)f no suitable public school is available, the 

[school system] must pay the costs of sending the child to an appropriate private school.” 

Id. At 9 (citing Jenkins v. Squillacote, 935 F.2d 303, 305 (D.C.Cir.1991)).   The Circuit 

then explained that such relief “must be tailored” to meet a student’s “unique needs.”  Id. 

At 11-12 (citing to Florence County School Dist. v. Carter, 510 U.S. 7, 16 (1993)).    To 

inform this individualized assessment, courts must consider “all relevant factors” 

including the nature and severity of the student's disability, the student's specialized 

educational needs, the link between those needs and the services offered by the private 

school, the placement's cost, and the extent to which the placement represents the least 

restrictive educational environment.  Id. at 12.    
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 Petitioner presented the testimony of Witness D, who testified that School C costs 

$47,000 without related services.    There are only thirty-four students in the school, and 

the age range at the school is ages twelve through twenty-two.   In each class there are 

three paraprofessionals and one subject teacher, with seven students in the class.   Most 

of the students are well below grade level, and the classes at the school last for forty-five 

minutes. 

 Witness A did recommend a full-time therapeutic setting for the Student, and 

Petitioner argued that School C constitutes a therapeutic setting.   However, this setting is 

very similar to the setting recently proposed to the parent by DCPS.  The school district’s 

BES program provides for special education class with only six to seven children, with 

behavior technicians and paraprofessionals in the class.   The parent rejected the BES 

program in this case and proceeded to hearing.  However, to this hearing officer, the BES 

program should be tried before the District is ordered to pay for a private school for the 

Student, provided that it is provided in a school that suits the Student’s needs.   

 This school should provide the Student with a significant increase in oversight to 

make sure the Student does not leave the classroom and to encourage attendance.    

Additionally, the Student should be placed in a school where: 1) students are not allowed 

in the hallways without a pass; 2) the Student’s classes consist of students who are at or 

near the Student’s age; and 3) the Student is provided with math instruction that is on the 

Student’s academic level.       

 Petitioner also seeks compensatory education.   In regard to compensatory 

education, courts and hearing officers may award “educational services to be provided 

prospectively to compensate for a past deficient program.” Reid v. District of Columbia, 
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401 F.3d 516, 521-23 (D.C. Cir. 2005).  In every case, however, the inquiry must be fact-

specific and, to accomplish IDEA's purposes, the ultimate award must be reasonably 

calculated to provide the educational benefits that likely would have accrued from special 

education services the school district should have supplied in the first place. Id., 401 F. 

3d at 524; see also Friendship Edison Public Charter School v. Nesbitt, 532 F. Supp. 2d 

121, 125 (D.D.C. 2008) (compensatory award must be based on a "'qualitative, fact-

intensive' inquiry used to craft an award 'tailored to the unique needs of the disabled 

student").  

 A Petitioner need not "have a perfect case” to be entitled to a compensatory 

education award. Stanton v. District of Columbia, 680 F. Supp. 201 (D.D.C. 2011). 

Under the IDEA, if a Student is denied a FAPE, a hearing officer may not “simply 

refuse” to grant one. Henry v. District of Columbia, 55 IDELR 187 (D.D.C. 2010).   

Some students may require only short, intensive compensatory programs targeted at 

specific problems or deficiencies. Reid, 401 F.3d at 524. 

 Petitioner did not submit a compensatory education plan.  Instead, Petitioner 

presented the testimony of Witness C, who testified somewhat generally that the Student 

would benefit from a credit recovery program and from tutoring and mentoring.    In 

regard to credit recovery, the IEP dated March, 2016 states that the Student has only three 

credits (out of 34), though there is also testimony in the record that the Student has 

thirteen credits.   Witness C offered a program where the credit recovery is supported by 

a learning coach, which would help the Student manage the course.  I agree that this is 

appropriate compensatory relief for this Student, who needs a considerable amount of 

oversight and is not likely to complete a course on his own.   I will therefore order that 
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the Student receive a course or courses that would enable the student to receive two 

Carnegie unit credits.   

 Petitioner also seeks 200 hours of compensatory tutoring, but does not exactly 

explain how she calculated this number much less how this amount is consistent with the 

criteria in Reid.   While I do agree that some tutoring is appropriate given that the Student 

was denied a FAPE for at least four months, I will reduce the Student’s compensatory 

tutoring amount to seventy-five hours.  Additionally, I will require that the Student 

regularly attend the tutoring sessions in order for the Student to benefit from the sessions.   

If the Student misses three tutoring sessions without an appropriate medical excuse, the 

school district may exercise an option to terminate the instruction.      

 Finally, with respect to mentoring, this may well be of benefit to the Student.    

However, it was never recommended for the Student by a school district and is not 

ordinarily considered part of an educational program.  Compensatory education should be 

compensatory, i.e., that services that should have been provided by the school district to 

begin with.   Moreover, there was insufficient testimony or argument to support this 

request, which must be denied.     

IX.  Order 

 As a result of the foregoing: 

 1. Respondent is deemed to have denied the Student a FAPE;  

 2. The Student is hereby awarded seventy-five hours of compensatory 

tutoring, to be provided by a special education teacher; 

 3. If the Student is absent from three sessions of compensatory tutoring 

without a medical note, the school district has the option to discontinue the tutoring;  
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 4. The Student is awarded credit recovery course(s) that will allow the 

Student to receive two Carnegie unit credits;  

 5. Within twenty days, the Student’s IEP and location of services shall be 

changed to a school that offers: a) a “BES” program; b) a school where students are not 

allowed to leave their classroom and go into the hallways; c) a school which offers 

classes that are with other students who are at or near the same age as the Student; and d) 

a school which offers the Student a math class that is at the Student’s academic level.      

 6. The BIP shall be revised within twenty days to specifically propose new 

measures to address the Student’s concerns with attendance and leaving the classroom;    

 7. Petitioner’s other requests for relief are hereby denied. 

 Dated: November 8, 2016 

       Michael Lazan      

                                                                                     Impartial Hearing Officer 

   

cc: Office of Dispute Resolution  

 Attorney A, Esq. 

 Attorney B, Esq. 

 OSSE Division of Specialized Education  

 Contact.resolution@dc.gov 

 Chief Hearing Officer 
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X.  Notice of Appeal Rights 

 

 This is the final administrative decision in this matter.  Any party aggrieved by 

this Hearing Officer Determination may bring a civil action in any state court of 

competent jurisdiction or in a District Court of the United States without regard to the 

amount in controversy within ninety (90) days from the date of the Hearing Officer 

Determination in accordance with 20 USC §1415(i). 

Date: November 8, 2016 

   

       Michael Lazan 

               Impartial Hearing Officer 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 




